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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Shareholders of Propel Holdings Inc.:  
 
 

 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Propel Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company"), 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
and its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  
 
Assessment of the Allowance for Credit Losses  
 
Key Audit Matter Description  
 
We draw your attention to Notes 2, 3 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has recorded an 
allowance for credit losses against its loan’s receivable for an amount of $23,700,774 and guarantee liabilities for its 
Credit Services Organization (“CSO”) of $913,599 and bank services program liabilities of $4,639,049. 
 
The Company maintains allowances for losses on its loans and guarantee liabilities pursuant to the provisions of 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments expected credit losses (“ECL”) framework. The Company’s allowance for credit losses 
is determined using an ECL approach that represents the discounted probability-weighted estimate of cash shortfalls 
expected to result from defaults over the relevant time horizon. ECL is an unbiased probability-weighted estimate 
wherein the key inputs being probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”) 
associated with the portfolio, sensitized to future market and macroeconomic conditions through the incorporation of 
forward-looking information. Qualitative adjustments to the modeled estimate of ECLs are also considered to address 
certain identified elements that are not directly captured by the statistically modeled ECL.  
 
Significant assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty in determining the allowance for credit losses include: 
 
 High degree of measurement uncertainty in the key inputs (PD, LGD, EAD), and their resulting impact on the 

allowance; and  

 Selecting relevant forward-looking information. 

We identified the assessment of allowance for credit losses  as a key audit matter. This matter represented an area of 
significant risk of material misstatement given the magnitude of the impact of the provision on net earnings and the 
related high degree of estimation uncertainty in determining the amounts recorded. Significant auditor judgment was 
required due to the high degree of measurement uncertainty in the key inputs (PD, LGD, EAD), methodology, and 
their resulting impact on the allowance. Assessing the allowance also required significant auditor attention and 
complex auditor judgment to evaluate the results of our audit procedures. Further, specialized skills and knowledge, 
including experience in the industry, were required to apply audit procedures and evaluate the results of such 
procedures. 



 

 
 

  
  

Audit Response  
 
We responded to this matter by performing procedures in relation to the assessment of allowance for credit losses. 
Our audit work in relation to this included, but was not restricted to, the following: 
 
 We evaluated the design of certain internal controls over management's review of the ECL, which includes their 

review of forward-looking information and the application of credit expert judgment. 

 We evaluated the reasonableness of aggregation of the current loan data and historical loan data established by 
the Company with assistance of internal technology risk specialists and its appropriateness in supporting the 
Company`s assessment.  

 We assessed the reasonableness of the unemployment rate and salary/wages forecasts by comparing against 
external macroeconomic data. 

 We assessed the reasonableness of qualitative adjustments considered based on loan portfolio and significant 
assumptions in the context of the IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ECL framework.  
 

Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  We 
obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we 
have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

  
  

 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audits. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Stephen Warden. 
 
 
 
 
 
Toronto, Ontario  Chartered Professional Accountants 
March 21, 2022  Licensed Public Accountants 
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Propel Holdings Inc. 
Consolidated statements of financial position 
(expressed in US dollars) 

As at 

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Note 
Assets 

Cash   7,238,761  5,245,917 
Restricted cash 5       16,286,887  7,875,106 
Loans and advances receivable 6     103,849,824      49,777,458 
Other receivables 9   4,371,616  1,791,145 
Prepaids 8   1,486,572     450,959 
Derivative financial instruments 10  40,173     352,937 
Property and equipment 11      499,858     507,718 
Deferred tax assets 18   5,333,560  3,196,258 
Right-of-use assets 13   2,478,979  2,980,458 
Intangible assets 12   7,912,535  6,874,877 

Total Assets    149,498,765    79,052,833 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 14   2,725,548  2,737,421 
Accrued liabilities 14       16,971,189  8,752,679 
Credit facilities 15       46,870,000      38,100,000 
Term loans 15   -        11,195,703 
Income taxes payable   4,343,009  5,135,619 
Lease liabilities 13   3,183,737  3,536,260 
Deferred tax liabilities 18  76,040  1,179,687 

Total Liabilities       74,169,523      70,637,369 

Shareholders' Equity 
Share capital 16       78,951,062  4,881,037 
Retained earnings (deficit)  (4,041,467)  3,469,653 
Contributed surplus 17      419,647       64,774 

Total Shareholders' Equity 75,329,242  8,415,464 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 149,498,765      79,052,833 

Approved on behalf of the Board 

_________________________, Director _________________________, Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

"Clive Kinross" "Karen Martin"
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Propel Holdings Inc. 
Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income 
(expressed in US dollars) 
 
 
 

  For the year ended 
  December 2021  December 2020 
 Note    

Revenue 7   129,649,121      73,461,749  
Provision for loan losses and other liabilities 6     55,021,098      24,756,892  

     
Operating expenses     

Acquisition and data      23,697,576       12,903,185  
Salaries, wages and benefits 17, 21     21,376,719       12,534,740  
General and administrative        4,649,162         2,625,771  
Processing and technology        5,797,000         3,379,515  

Total operating expenses      55,520,457       31,443,211  
     

Operating income      19,107,566       17,261,646  
     
Other income (expenses)      

Interest and fees on credit facilities 15      (4,431,071)       (2,316,836) 
Interest on term loan          (886,852)       (1,735,947) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 13         (440,043)          (468,428) 
Amortization of internally developed software  12      (2,140,366)       (1,573,296) 
Depreciation of property and equipment  11         (111,704)          (161,441) 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 13         (660,778)          (716,939) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)           (451,466)          (147,433) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative financial 
instruments 10         (312,764)           280,453  

     
Total other income (expenses)       (9,435,044)       (6,839,867) 
     
Income before transaction costs and income tax         9,672,522       10,421,779  

     
Transaction costs        1,608,250                      -    

     
Income tax expense (recovery)     

Current        4,742,780         3,871,102  
Deferred       (3,240,950)          (781,711) 
     

Net income for the year        6,562,442         7,332,388  
     

     
Weighted average number of shares 
outstanding: 

    

Basic      27,459,552       23,561,005  
Diluted      28,108,642       24,221,218  
     

Earnings per share:     
Basic  $            0.24  $            0.31 
Diluted  $            0.23  $            0.30 

 
 

 
 

 
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

 



 

3 
 

Propel Holdings Inc. 
Consolidated statements of cash flows 
(expressed in US dollars) 
     

 
  For the year ended 
  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 
 Note    

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities     
Net income        6,562,442        7,332,388 
Items not affecting cash:     

Provision for loan losses 6 50,284,082  24,246,077 
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) from fair value 
of derivative financial instruments 10 312,764  (280,453) 

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 18 (3,240,949)  (781,711) 
Amortization of acquisition transaction costs and 
customer acquisition data 6,12 5,094,144  2,017,204 

Depreciation of property and equipment 11 111,704  161,441 
Amortization of internally developed software 12 2,140,366  1,573,296 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 13 660,778  716,939 
Stock-based compensation  17 354,873  23,879 

  62,280,204  35,009,060 
Changes in:     

Restricted cash 5 (8,411,781)  (2,293,852) 
Prepaids 8 (1,035,613)  54,407 
Acquisition transaction costs and customer 
acquisition data  6,12 (7,245,524)  (4,013,402) 

Other receivables 9 (2,580,471)  (862,504) 
Income taxes recoverable/payable 18 (792,610)  3,853,968 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14 8,675,426  225,594 
Net additions of loans and advances receivable 6 (109,631,634)  (51,269,799) 
Principal loans and advances receivable recoveries 6 6,909,063  3,874,018 

Net cash from (used in) operating activities  (51,832,940)  (15,422,510) 
     
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities     

Advances from credit facilities 15 37,120,000  32,300,000 
Payments on credit facilities 15 (28,350,000)  (14,000,000) 
Advances (repayments) from term loans  (11,195,703)  1,838,615 
Payments on lease liabilities 13 (980,612)  (987,458) 
Dividends paid  (8,073,562)  (2,665,681) 
Proceeds from shares issued 16                     67,671,393  - 
Proceeds from options exercised 17 398,632  108,809 

Net cash from (used in) financing activities  56,590,148  16,594,285 
     
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities     

Purchases of property and equipment 11 (103,844)  (115,438) 
Cost of internally developed software 12 (2,660,520)  (2,013,315) 

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  (2,764,364)  (2,128,753) 
     

Net change in cash  1,992,844  (956,978) 
Cash, beginning of period  5,245,917  6,202,895 
Cash, end of period  7,238,761  5,245,917 

     
Supplemental cash flow information     

Interest received  19,140,259  20,408,476 
Interest paid  5,374,717  3,536,539 
Income taxes paid  5,645,848  292,550 
Non-cash dividend 21 6,000,000  - 

 
 
 
  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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Propel Holdings Inc. 
Consolidated statements of changes in equity 
(expressed in US dollars) 
 
 

 Share Capital Contributed 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings/(deficit) Total equity 

     
Balance as at December 31, 2020 4,881,037 64,774 3,469,653 8,415,464 
     
Net income for the year -    - 6,562,442 6,562,442 
     
Transactions recorded directly in equity     

Dividends declared and paid - - (14,073,562) (14,073,562) 
Stock-based compensation - 419,647 - 419,647 
Shares issued 77,724,262 - - 77,724,262 
Share issuance costs     (4,052,869) - - (4,052,869) 
Options exercised 398,632 (64,774) - 333,858 

Balance as at December 31, 2021 78,951,062 419,647 (4,041,467) 75,329,242 
     
     
 Share Capital Contributed 

surplus 
Retained 

earnings/(deficit) Total equity 

     
Balance as at December 31, 2019 4,743,332 69,791 (1,197,054) 3,616,069 
     
Net income for the year - - 7,332,388 7,332,388 
     
Transactions recorded directly in equity     

Dividends declared and paid - - (2,665,681) (2,665,681) 
Stock-based compensation - 23,879 - 23,879 
Shares issued - (28,896) - (28,896) 
Options exercised 137,705 - - 137,705 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 4,881,037 64,774 3,469,653 8,415,464 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
 



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
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1.  Incorporation and operations 

Propel Holdings Inc. (the "Parent Company") was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on June 16, 
2011 and its head office is located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The Company issued shares publicly traded on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “PRL” on October 20, 2021.  

The Parent Company and all of the companies that it controls (collectively referred to as the “Company”) is a leading financial 
technology company, committed to credit inclusion and helping underserved consumers by providing or facilitating fair, fast, 
and transparent access to credit with exceptional service. The Company operates through its two brands: MoneyKey and 
CreditFresh.  

The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, is a state-licensed direct lender and currently offers either Installment Loans or 
Lines of Credit to new customers in several US states. The type of product offered in each state is dependent on the specific 
regulatory requirements within each operational state. As of December 31, 2021, the Company, through its MoneyKey brand, 
offered products as a state-licensed direct lender in 9 states across the US.  

The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, is also a state-licensed Credit Access Business (“CAB”) and Credit Services 
Organization (“CSO”) in the state of Texas. Through its CSO programs, the Company provides services related to unaffiliated 
third-party lenders’ consumer loan products in accordance with applicable state laws. These services include arranging 
loans, assisting in the preparation of loan applications and documents, and providing guarantees of consumer loan payment 
obligations to the unaffiliated third-party lender in the event that the customer defaults on their loan payments (“CSO 
Guarantee Liabilities”). 

The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, also operates as a servicer which provides marketing, analytics, and loan 
servicing services to an unaffiliated non-bank financial institution (“NBFI”). The NBFI has a program agreement with a Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured Utah state-chartered bank (“NBFI Bank Partner” and together with NBFI, 
“Bank Service Partners”) to whom it provides certain services, some of which have been outsourced by the NBFI to the 
Company. The NBFI Bank Partner offers unsecured open-ended lines of credit (“the “Bank Service Program”). The Company 
provides, among other things, technology and underwriting services required for the Bank Service Program. The NBFI Bank 
Partner approves all key decisions regarding the marketing, underwriting, product features and pricing of the Bank Service 
Program. Under the program, the Company also entered an agreement to purchase loans originated through the Bank 
Service Program should the loans default or become non-performing (“Bank Service Program Liability”). As of December 
31, 2021, the Bank Service Program was offered in 15 states across the US and is regulated by the FDIC and other bank 
regulators. 

The Company, through its CreditFresh brand, operates as a bank servicer which provides marketing, technology, and loan 
servicing services to unaffiliated, FDIC insured, state-chartered banks in the US (“Bank Program”). As of December 31, 
2021, the Company maintained two Bank Programs with a Kansas state-chartered, FDIC insured, bank and a Utah state-
chartered, FDIC insured, bank (“Bank Partner(s)”). Through the Bank Program, the Bank Partner offers unsecured open-
ended lines of credit and is the sole originator of such lines of credit. The Bank Partner licenses technology, proprietary credit 
decisioning and underwriting capabilities from the Company and approves all key decisions regarding the marketing, 
underwriting, product features and pricing of the lines of credit offered through the Bank Program. Delaware Statutory Trusts 
(“DST I” and “DST II”, collectively the “DSTs”) have the obligation to purchase an economic interest in the principal balances 
of the lines of credit originated by the Bank Partner (such purchased economic interest referred to as “Bank Program 
Advances”) once offered by such Bank Partner. The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, has the sole beneficial 
interest in the DSTs. As of December 31, 2021, the CreditFresh Bank Program was offered in 25 states across the US and 
is regulated by the FDIC and other bank regulators.  

Pursuant to the Bank Program agreements, the Bank Partners earn all program fees during the mutually agreed upon period 
of time prior to any offer being made to the Company. Following the purchase by the DSTs of the loan and advance 
receivable, the Bank Partners continue to hold legal title to the loan and maintain the relationship with the customer, which 
includes the funding of any future advances under the line of credit. The DSTs acquire an economic interest in the line of 
credit advances and the Company records the same as a loan and advance receivable on its balance sheet. Additionally, 
the Bank Partners continue to earn a trailing fee calculated based on the amounts collected by the DSTs.



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
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2.    Basis of presentation 

Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

 
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, were authorized for issue by the Company’s 
Board of Directors on March 18, 2022. 

 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments that are measured 
at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial 
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 
2, Share-based Payment (“IFRS 2”) and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such 
as value in use in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 36, Impairment of Assets. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost method. 
Management assesses the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern at each reporting date, using the quantitative 
and qualitative information available.  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below in Note 3. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s, and all of its wholly owned 
subsidiaries’ functional currency and presentation currency.  
 
Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions the Company may undertake in the 
future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.    

Continued impact of COVID-19 
 
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has been closely monitoring all related developments and managing 
any potential impact on the business. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the duration and potential outcomes of the COVID-
19 pandemic, and the unpredictable and continuously changing nature of the pandemic and related government responses, 
there is uncertainty associated with the related assumptions, expectations, and estimates. 

  



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
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2.  Basis of presentation (continued) 

At this time, the long-term impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the Company is unknown. Despite the global economy 
beginning to reopen, the extent of the impact will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot 
be predicted with confidence. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the spread of the disease from current, 
new, and emerging variants of the virus which may have an impact on the overall global economy. Management continues 
to monitor the impact of the virus on the Company and our customer base. The COVID-19 virus continues to be a source of 
uncertainty with respect to managements significant judgments and estimates. 

The following are the significant judgments and estimates that management has made in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements: 
 
Allowance for credit losses 

The recognition of Loans and advances receivables and loss allowances requires the Company to assess credit risk and 
collectability. The Company considers historical trends of payment/collections performance in similar consumer groups as 
well as any available information indicating a change in the status of each customer in performing this assessment. 
 
The Company applies the general approach for measuring and recognizing the loss allowance on loans and advances 
receivable. The Company has determined the likely impairment loss on loans and advances receivable which have not 
maintained their contractual loan and advance repayment schedule. The expected credit losses are determined on a portfolio 
basis and are calculated considering a variety of factors, including, but not limited to: aging, delinquency levels, composition 
and quality of the portfolio, historical data (including collection success rate, charge-off rates, and loss experience) and 
certain forward looking indicators. The methodology and assumptions used in setting the expected credit losses are reviewed 
regularly in an effort to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual losses experienced. 
 
Capitalization of intangible assets 

Internally developed intangible assets consist mainly of development costs related to the development of software. These 
costs are recognized as an intangible asset when the Company can demonstrate all of the following: 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
 
Management considers all appropriate facts and circumstances in making this assessment including historical experience, 
costs and anticipated future economic conditions. Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, 
the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is 
amortized over the period of the expected future benefit. 
 
Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 

Management is required to use judgment in determining the cash-generating units (the “CGU”s) and reviewing impairment 
indicators. Management views brands and products (MoneyKey (direct lender, CSO or sub-servicer to the Bank Service 
Program), and CreditFresh) as a CGU and notes that the recoverable amount of the CGU is most sensitive to consumer 
default and collection rates (or the underlying borrower performance upon which the CGU’s financial performance is 
dependent). Budgets comprise forecasts of revenue, provision for loan losses and other liabilities, operating expenses and 
overheads based on current and anticipated market conditions that have been considered and approved by the Board. Whilst 
the Company is able to manage most of the forecasted costs, the revenue projections are inherently uncertain due to market 
and economic factors. 
 

  



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
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2.    Basis of preparation (continued) 

Income taxes 

Provisions for taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment 
of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end of the reporting period. However, 
it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing authorities. Where the final 
outcome of these tax-related matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect 
the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
Management uses estimates when determining deferred tax assets. These estimates are used to determine the 
recoverability of non-capital tax loss carry forward and other tax amounts. Significant judgment is required to determine the 
probable future cash flows to recognize the deferred tax asset. Changes in market conditions, changes in tax legislation, 
and other factors, could adversely affect the ongoing value of deferred tax assets. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
is reassessed at each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income 
will be available to utilize all or part of the deferred tax assets. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable income for the asset 
to be recovered. 
 
Leases 

Values of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities require judgment in determining lease terms such as extension options and 
the discount rate applied. In the case where the incremental borrowing rate is used, the Company estimates the incremental 
borrowing rate based on the lease term, collateral assumptions, and the economic environment in which the lease is 
denominated. Renewal options are only included if management is reasonably certain that the option will be renewed. 
 
Share based payments 

For equity-settled plans, expense is based on the fair value of the awards granted, calculated on the grant date, with a 
corresponding increase in contributed surplus. The expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over 
which all of the specified vesting conditions are satisfied. 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the fair value of equity settled share options. Estimates 
are required for inputs to this model including the fair value of the underlying shares, the expected life of the option, volatility, 
expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate. Variation in actual results for any of these inputs will result in a different 
value of the share option realized from the original estimate. The assumptions and estimates used are further outlined in the 
stock options note. 
 
3. Significant accounting policies 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue represents the amount the Company expects to receive for products and services in its contracts with customers. 
The Company derives revenue from fees on purchased receivables through its subsidiaries and/or controlled entities, 
including: interest or fees from borrowers in direct lending arrangements, fees on purchased receivables, and fees from 
partners for loan servicing services. The effective interest rate (“EIR”) and therefore, the amortized cost of the financial asset) 
is calculated by taking into account transaction costs and any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, 
as well as fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Interest and fee income on financial instruments 
 
Interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial assets measured at amortized cost. The EIR is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
i. Interest or fees from borrowers in direct lending arrangements (MoneyKey) and fees on purchased receivables from 

borrowers on purchased receivables (CreditFresh) 
 
The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, is the direct lender to borrowers for certain products and offers installment loans 
or lines of credit (depending on the product and state) earning interest and/or fees. The Company, through its CreditFresh 
brand, as the sole beneficial interest holder in the DSTs, earns various fees based on the Bank Program Advances  offered 
by the Bank Partners and purchased by the DSTs. The DSTs purchase the Bank Program Advances offered by the Bank 
Partners which entitles the DSTs to the future revenue earned from the underlying lines of credit and advances purchased. 
The Company earns the interest and fees revenue using the effective interest rate method, to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those services by applying the following steps: 
 

• identify the contract with a customer; 
• identify the performance obligations in the contract; 
• determine the transaction price; 
• allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and 
• recognize revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation. 

 
The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of products or services to customers at an amount that reflects 
the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for the products or services transferred. The Company 
evaluates contracts with customers to determine the appropriate unit of accounting (performance obligation) for revenue 
recognition purposes based on whether the product or service is distinct from some or all of the other products or services 
in the arrangement. A product or service is distinct if the customer can benefit from it on its own or together with other readily 
available resources and the Company’s promise to transfer the good or service is separately identifiable from other promises 
in the contractual arrangement with the customer. Non-distinct products and services are combined with other goods or 
services until they are distinct as a bundle and therefore form a single performance obligation. The total consideration for 
the arrangement is allocated to the performance obligations based on their relative fair value. 

 
i. Fees from partners for arranging loans and fees from partners for loan servicing (MoneyKey) 

 
The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, arranges and services loans on behalf of borrowers with third party lenders in 
certain states through CSO programs and earns a CSO fee for this service. The Company earns this fee over the lifetime of 
the loan and is recognized over that timeframe, to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company. The Company also earns revenue on collection or recovery of purchased defaulted loans at a point in time when 
collection is reasonably assured. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
ii. Fees from partners for services (MoneyKey)  
 
The Company, through its MoneyKey brand, provides marketing, analytics, and loan servicing services to the NBFI for lines 
of credit originated by the NBFI Bank Partner. The Company earns revenue for each service provided to the Bank Service 
Partners. The Company earns this fee revenue over the lifetime of the loan being serviced, and is recognized over that 
timeframe, to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company. The Company also earns 
revenue on collection or recovery of purchased defaulted receivables (from the lines of credit originated by the NBFI Bank 
Partner) at a point in time when collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortized cost (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVOCI”), or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is based on the business 
model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
• Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially measured at the 
transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition. 
 
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets. 
 

Financial assets at FVTPL Subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains or losses, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit 
or loss. 
 

Financial assets at amortized cost Subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment losses. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or 
when the contractual rights to those assets are transferred. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities at fair value on the date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, other liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with changes being recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
 
Classification of financial instruments 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets and liabilities depending on the purpose for which the financial instruments were 
acquired, their characteristics and management intent. 
 
The Company’s financial instruments measured at amortized cost include cash, restricted cash, loans and advances 
receivable, prepaids, other receivables, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, CSO obligations, credit facilities, and term 
loans. 
 
The Company’s financial instruments measured at FVTPL include derivative financial instruments, CSO Guarantee Liabilities 
and Bank Service Program Liabilities. 
 
Loans and advances receivable 
 
Loans and advances receivable consist of unsecured installment loans and line of credit advances where it is the direct 
lender (MoneyKey), installment loans that have been guaranteed on behalf of the borrower to an originating third party lender 
through the CSO program (MoneyKey), purchased non-performing loans originated through the Bank Service Program 
(MoneyKey), and purchased Bank Program Advances (CreditFresh). Loans and advances receivable are reported net of an 
allowance for credit losses. 
 
The Company does not accrue any interest and/or fees on the principal portion of its non-performing loans and advances 
receivable. The Company does continue to accrue interest and/or fees on only the principal portion of under-performing 
loans and advances receivable up until such under-performing loans and advances receivable are considered non-
performing, after which no further interest and/or fees are accrued. Fees and interest receivable includes revenue that is 
earned and accrued through to the end of each reporting period. The expected credit loss for fees and interest receivable is 
included in the allowance for credit losses. 
 
The Company capitalizes acquisition transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the origination of a 
Loan or Line of Credit advance to loans and advances receivable. The Company recognizes the acquisition transaction costs 
over the estimated term of the related credit products. The Company expenses acquisition transaction costs to acquisition 
and data expense. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
An expected credit loss (“ECL”) model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, which consist primarily of 
loans and advances receivables. The Company provides for these loans and advance receivables irrespective of whether a 
loss event has occurred or not as at the statement of financial position date. The Company applies the general approach to 
impairment for loans and advance receivables by segmenting its loan portfolio into three stages at each period end date: 
performing (Stage 1), under-performing (Stage 2) and non-performing (Stage 3). 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Stage 1: Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SIR) since initial recognition of a financial instrument, 
an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a probability of 
default, loss given default, and exposure at default over the next 12 months. For those instruments with a remaining maturity 
of less than 12 months, an expected credit loss corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.  
 
Stage 2: When a financial instrument experiences an SIR subsequent to origination but is not considered to be in default or 
credit impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss over the remaining estimated 
life of the financial instrument.  
 
Stage 3: Financial instruments that are considered to be in default or credit impaired are included in this stage. Similar to 
Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses.  
 
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk 
 
Significant increases in credit risk are assessed based on changes in probability of default of loans receivable subsequent 
to initial recognition. The Company uses past due information to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. Loans and advance receivables are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit 
risk and are reclassified to Stage 2 if a contractual payment is past due as at the reporting date (delinquent status) but are 
still within the allowable number of payments missed and/or the allowable period to cure (remedy payments in arrears and 
return to current status). 
 
Non-performing loans and advance receivables (defaulted status) have either: 
 

(a) a certain number of payments missed; or 
(b) a defined period of time to remedy a missed payment has elapsed 

 
Generally, Stage 3 balances are between 30 to 60 days in arrears, where the application of either criteria is dependent on 
the product and the regulation within the state the product is offered and/or originated. 
 
Loans and advances receivable are charged-off when they are in Stage 3 for greater than 30 days, which is generally 60 to 
90 days in arrears. In no material instance would a Stage 3 balance be >90 days in arrears (see Aging of Stage 2 and Stage 
3 Gross Loans and advances receivable from date of delinquency in Note 6). The charged-off balance is recognized as a 
component of provision for loan losses and other liabilities under the consolidated statement of operations and 
comprehensive income. The Company, where possible, works in its best efforts to recover portions of such charged-off 
balances. 
 
Measurement of expected credit losses  
 
For performing loans, the Company is required to record an allowance for credit losses equal to the expected credit losses 
that result from potential default events within the twelve months following the reporting date. For under-performing and non-
performing loans, the Company is required to record an allowance for credit losses equal to the expected losses on those 
groups of loans over their remaining life. 
 
For lines of credit that are under-performing (delinquent status), the Company does not advance any further funds to the 
borrower (regardless of credit limit availability) until the amounts in arrears are collected and the account returns to 
performing (current status). 
 
The key inputs in the measurement of ECL allowances are as follows: 
 
• The probability of default over a particular time period, based on historical loan performance of similar consumers. 
• The expected loss given default, net of historical collection and recoveries performance. 
• The expected exposure at default, based on historical consumer behaviour.  
• Certain forward-looking indicators (“FLIs”) including macroeconomic forces. 
 
The Company does not offer renewals or extensions on any credit products. For installment loan products, borrowers can 
apply for new loans once their prior loan is paid in full. For lines of credit, borrowers may request additional draws (advances) 
to their approved credit limits only if they are performing loans (current or Stage 1 status). 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

The Company does not allow payments in-kind. Payment deferrals and/or amendments to payment schedules may be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. However, in the event that a payment deferral is granted if a borrower cannot make 
their upcoming payment, the account is moved into Stage 2 status. The account can only move back to Stage 1 status if the 
borrower makes full payment on past due amounts and moves back in-line with their original payment schedule. 
Amendments to payment terms may be considered; however, amendments to terms would not allow for previously due 
payments to no longer be overdue and could not result in a loan remaining in or reverting to Stage 1. In general, an 
amendment to payment terms cannot result in an under-performing or non-performing loan converting to a performing loan. 
For under-performing accounts, the Company works with borrowers on payment plans to enable them to ultimately satisfy 
past due amounts and move back into performing status. Once an account is non-performing, it cannot move back to Stage 
2 or Stage 1. The Company works with the borrower to satisfy all amounts that are past due, and if successful, the borrower 
can reapply, and complete an underwriting process for a new loan or line of credit. 
 
Purchased or originated credit-impaired 
 
Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired Financial Assets Purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI") financial assets 
are assets that are credit-impaired at the time of initial recognition. A lifetime ECL is incorporated into the calculation of the 
effective interest rate of these assets. Consequently, POCI assets do not carry an impairment allowance at the time of initial 
recognition. The amount recognized as a loss allowance subsequent to initial recognition is equal to changes in the lifetime 
ECL. 
 
Provision for loan losses and other liabilities 
 
Provision for loan losses and other liabilities consists of provision for loan losses, other lending program costs, and provisions 
for CSO Guarantee Liabilities and Bank Service Liabilities. 
 
Cash and restricted cash 
 
Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in restricted cash. The Company collects 
fees, interest and principal amounts owing from its customers or those customers it services. The majority of such payments 
are collected via automatic debits to the customer accounts made through banks and payment processors via the automated 
clearing house (“ACH”) network. Initially, the banks and payment processors remit the entire amount debited on a given day 
to the Company regardless of whether all of the customer accounts had sufficient funds to cover the payment. Typically two 
business days later, the banks and payment processors will notify the Company of unsuccessful debits for which the 
Company is liable and for which the banks and payment processors will consequently debit the Company’s bank account in 
settlement. Amounts owed to the banks and payment processors for the two-business day period immediately preceding 
year end are reflected as a reduction of the Company’s cash balance. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value changes in response to a change in an underlying 
variable, such as specified interest rate, financial instrument or commodity price, or foreign exchange rate. The Company 
enters into derivative contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange risks. Derivative transactions are governed by 
a uniform set of policies and procedures. Positions are monitored based on changes in exchange rates and their impact on 
the market value of derivatives. Derivatives are recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value 
using quotes from dealers. 
 
Government grants and incentives 
 
Claims for assistance under various government programs are recorded as a reduction of the cost of the related asset or 
expense in the year in which eligible expenditures are incurred, when the Company has complied with the terms and 
conditions of the program or the applicable tax legislation, and the amount has been or is likely to be received. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Property and equipment 
 
The Company’s property and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The 
cost of an item of property and equipment includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of the asset. 
 
Amortization is provided using the straight-line method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated 
useful lives, which are as follows: 
 

 Method Rate 
Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 5 years 
Computer equipment Straight-line 3 years 
Leasehold improvements Straight-line Term of lease 

 
 

Intangible assets 
 
There are two groups of intangible assets: internally generated intangible assets and intangible assets that are acquired by 
the Company. 
 
Internally generated intangible assets consist of internally developed software arising from technology and/or software 
development which satisfies the capitalization criteria. The amount initially recognized is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria. Where no internally generated intangible asset 
can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. The assets 
that meet the recognition criteria are amortized over their economic useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  
 
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company consist of customer acquisition data. They have finite useful lives and 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortization, disposals and write-off, and accumulated impairment. Customer 
acquisition data is used as a key input in the Company’s proprietary underwriting machine learning algorithms. These 
intangible assets are amortized over the economic useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired.  
 

 Method Rate 
Internally developed software Straight-line 4 years 
Customer acquisition data Straight-line 1.5 years 

 
Amortization of internally developed software is recognized in profit or loss as amortization of internally developed software 
over the estimated useful lives from the date they are available for use. Amortization of customer acquisition data is 
recognized in profit or loss as acquisition and data expense over the estimated useful lives from the date they are available 
for use. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment at each consolidated statement 
of financial position date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair 
value, less cost to sell, and its value in use. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment 
charge is recognized immediately in profit or loss by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the 
recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
lesser of the revised estimate of recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no 
impairment loss been recognized previously. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) (a) as a result of a past event; 
(b) when it is more probable than not an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and (c) when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case the income tax is also recognized directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only 
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the amounts and the Company intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of all qualifying temporary differences arising between the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted 
basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it 
is probable that the assets can be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent future recovery is probable. At each reporting period end, deferred tax 
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable earnings will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Stock-based compensation 
 
The Company uses the fair value method to account for all stock-based payments. The fair value of stock options granted 
is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account amounts that are believed to approximate the 
expected volatility of the trading price of the Company’s stock, the expected lives of the awards of stock-based compensation, 
the exercise price and current fair value of the Company’s underlying stock and the risk-free interest rate, as determined at 
the grant date. The associated compensation cost is recognized directly in earnings over the vesting period with a 
corresponding credit to contributed surplus. When stock options are exercised, the consideration and related contributed 
surplus are recorded in share capital. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currencies at exchange rates in effect on the date of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into functional currencies at the foreign exchange rate applicable at that period-end date. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Expenses are translated at the exchange rates that approximate those in effect on the date of the 
transaction. Realized and unrealized exchange gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations 
and comprehensive income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company 
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease obligation at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use (“ROU”) asset is 
initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of the costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The 
right-of-use assets are depreciated to the earlier of the end of useful life of the right-of-use asset or the lease term using the 
straight-line method as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of the consumption of the future economic benefits. 
The lease term includes periods covered by an option to extend if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option. 
In addition, the right-of-use asset can be periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease obligation. The lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The lease obligation is measured at the present value of future lease payments. It is remeasured when there is a change in 
future lease payments arising from the change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it 
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease obligation is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the ROU asset, unless it has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient to not recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for short-term 
leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less and for leases of low value assets. The lease payments associated 
with those leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include accounts of the Company and all the entities it controls. Control is achieved 
over an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.  
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction 
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. 
 
Based on the structure of the DSTs, the Company has assessed that the voting rights are not the dominant factor in deciding 
who controls the entity. CreditFresh Inc., through wholly owned subsidiaries, is the sole beneficial interest holder of the DSTs 
and beneficially controls the DSTs. Given CreditFresh Inc. is 100% owned by Propel Holdings Inc the Company fully 
consolidates the DSTs. 
 
4. Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

 
(a) New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Company  
 
Interest rate benchmark reform (amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16) 
 
The Company continues to work on its credit facilities to transition based on the recommended target dates for the cessation of USD 
LIBOR-based products. These target dates reflect the announcement made on March 5, 2021 when the Financial Conduct Authority, 
the regulator of the ICE Benchmark Administration (IBA) which administers LIBOR, announced the permanent cessation or loss of 
representativeness of all 35 LIBOR settings currently published by the IBA. USD LIBOR settings to which we have debt exposures 
will predominantly cease or lose their representativeness after June 30, 2023. Refer to Note 15. 

 
(b) Standards issued but not yet effective  

 
There are no new standards issued but not yet effective as at January 1, 2021 that have a material impact to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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5.   Restricted cash 

Restricted cash is comprised of (a) reserves held as a form of collateral by unaffiliated third-party lenders (for CSO programs), 
Bank Partners, Bank Service Partners, banks, trustees, and payment processors for processing payments, and (b) funds 
held in restricted accounts for the benefit of credit facility lenders. Such restricted cash is redeemable when the stipulations 
for release within the related agreements have been met. As of December 31, 2021, the restricted cash balance was 
$16,286,887 (December 31, 2020 - $7,875,106). 

6.  Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses 

Loans and advances receivable are comprised of gross consumer loans receivable (including installment loans, line of credit 
(LOC) advances, Bank Program Advances, and non-performing loans originated through the Bank Service Program), fees 
and interest receivable on such loans and advances, allowance for credit losses, and acquisition transaction costs. Allowance 
for credit losses consists of the ECL of the associated loans and advance receivables based on their portfolio and stages. 
The term of the loans and advances varies based on compliance with individual state regulations applicable to each type of 
product. Acquisition transaction costs consist of costs that are directly attributable and incremental to originated loans and 
are deferred and expensed over the estimated lifetime of the loan. Amortization of acquisition transaction costs was 
$2,411,919 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $286,711) and is included in acquisition and data 
expense on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. 

A breakdown of the Company's Loans and advances receivable balance is as follows: 
 

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Gross Loans and advances receivable 112,800,270 56,839,547 
Fees receivable 10,655,439 4,107,793 
Interest receivable 1,379,165 1,154,388 
Allowance for credit losses (23,700,774) (13,406,118) 
Acquisition transaction costs 2,715,724 1,081,848 
 103,849,824 49,777,458 

   

The allocation of the Company’s gross loans and advances receivable by product type is as follows: 
 

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Bank Program Advances (CreditFresh) 94,457,753 42,785,266 
Installment loans and LOC advances (MoneyKey) 17,181,189 13,906,344 
Bank Service Program Advances (MoneyKey) 1,161,328 147,937 
 112,800,270 56,839,547 

 
 

Bank Program Advances and Bank Service Program Advances above all consist of open-ended lines of credit with no specific 
maturity date. MoneyKey LOC advances of $5,873,527 (December 31, 2020 - $5,006,417) are also open-ended lines of 
credit with no specific maturity date. Management expects to realize materially all of these assets within a 12-month period 
from the reporting date. MoneyKey Installment loans of $11,307,662 (December 31, 2020 - $8,899,927) will mature within a 
12-month period. 
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6.  Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses (continued) 

Classification of the gross loans and advances receivable by stage is as follows: 
 

 As at December 31, 2021 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 
Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3  
 (Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

Installment loans and LOC advances (MoneyKey) 11,667,619 3,731,782 1,781,788 17,181,189 
Bank Program Advances (CreditFresh) 81,173,630 8,963,485 4,320,638 94,457,753 
Bank Service Program Advances (MoneyKey) -    - 1,161,328 1,161,328 
 92,841,249 12,695,267 7,263,754 112,800,270 
     
     
 As at December 31, 2020 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 

Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3 
(Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

Installment loans and LOC advances (MoneyKey) 9,761,370 2,729,362 1,415,612 13,906,344 
Bank Program Advances (CreditFresh) 37,830,244 3,710,064 1,244,958 42,785,266 
Bank Service Program Advances (MoneyKey) - - 147,937 147,937 
 47,591,614 6,439,426 2,808,507 56,839,547 

 
Aging of Stage 2 and Stage 3 Gross Loans and advances receivable from date of delinquency: 
 
 

 As at December 31, 2021 
 Stage 2  

(Under-Performing) 
Stage 3     

(Non-Performing) Total 

0-30 9,914,511 796,143 10,710,654 
31-60 2,050,667 4,020,007 6,070,674 
61-90 231,806 1,735,244 1,967,050 

91-120 158,938 536,922 695,860 
120+ 339,345 175,438 514,783 
 12,695,267 7,263,754 19,959,021 
    
    
 December 31, 2020 
 Stage 2  

(Under-Performing) 
Stage 3     

(Non-Performing) Total 

0-30 4,837,305 246,995 5,084,300 
31-60 1,119,943 1,462,287 2,582,230 
61-90 137,471 821,508 958,979 

91-120 65,711 170,936 236,647 
120+ 278,996 106,780 385,776 
 6,439,426 2,808,507 9,247,933 
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6.  Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses (continued) 

 
An analysis of the changes in the classification of gross consumer loans receivable is as follows: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 
Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3  
(Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

Balance as at January 1, 2021 47,591,614 6,439,426 2,808,507 56,839,547 
     
Additions to gross loans receivable 178,634,363 6,937,683 6,490,452 192,062,498 
Principal payments and other adjustments (83,395,694) (4,976,459) (831,134) (89,203,287) 
Transfers to (from)     

Stage 1 (Performing) (62,857,574) 62,857,574 - - 
Stage 2 (Under-Performing) 12,868,540 (12,868,540) - - 
Stage 3 (Non-Performing) - (45,694,417) 45,694,417 - 

Gross charge offs - - (46,898,488) (46,898,488) 
Balance as at December 31, 2021 92,841,249 12,695,267 7,263,754 112,800,270 
 
 
 

  
  

     
  For the year ended December 31, 2020 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 

Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3 
(Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

Balance as at January 1, 2020 24,026,155 5,985,950 3,202,360 33,214,465 
     
Additions to gross loans receivable 81,802,823 7,196,924 221,602 89,221,349 
Principal payments and other adjustments (34,411,696) (3,798,176) (1,326,621) (39,536,493) 
Transfers to (from)     

Stage 1 (Performing) (29,392,882) 29,392,882 - - 
Stage 2 (Under-Performing) 5,567,214 (5,567,214) - - 
Stage 3 (Non-Performing) - (26,770,940) 26,770,940 - 

Gross charge offs - - (26,059,774) (26,059,774) 
Balance as at December 31, 2020 47,591,614 6,439,426 2,808,507 56,839,547 
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6.  Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses (continued) 

An analysis of the changes in the classification of the allowance for credit losses is as follows: 

  
 For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 
Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3  
(Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

     
Balance as at January 1, 2021 7,441,773 3,520,869 2,443,476 13,406,118 
     
Additions to loans receivable 30,099,294 4,050,040 5,407,159 39,556,493 
Principal payments and other adjustments (11,951,539) (1,545,578) (675,011) (14,172,158) 
Remeasurement of allowance before transfers (6,214,099) (184,633) - (6,398,702) 
Transfers to (from) including remeasurement     

Stage 1 (Performing) (10,228,104) 33,380,013 - 23,151,909 
Stage 2 (Under-Performing) 970,324 (6,215,162) - (5,244,838) 
Stage 3 (Non-Performing) - (25,322,673) 38,111,374 12,788,701 

Net amounts written off against allowance - - (39,386,749) (39,386,749) 
Balance as at December 31, 2021 10,117,649 7,682,876 5,900,249 23,700,774 
     
     
  For the year ended December 31, 2020 
 Stage 1 

(Performing) 

Stage 2 
(Under- 

Performing) 

Stage 3 
(Non- 

Performing) 
Total 

     
Balance as at January 1, 2020 5,046,916 3,473,467 2,825,414 11,345,797 
     
Additions to gross loans receivable 14,725,079 4,599,968 183,176 19,508,223 
Principal payments and other adjustments (5,262,426) (2,138,645) (1,172,190) (8,573,261) 
Remeasurement of allowance before transfers (1,793,006) (22,899) - (1,815,905) 
Transfers to (from) including remeasurement     

Stage 1 (Performing) (5,788,232) 15,913,116 - 10,124,884 
Stage 2 (Under-Performing) 513,442 (2,772,316) - (2,258,874) 
Stage 3 (Non-Performing) - (15,531,822) 22,720,092 7,188,270 

Net amounts written off against allowance - - (22,113,016) (22,113,016) 
Balance as at December 31, 2020 7,441,773 3,520,869 2,443,476 13,406,118 

   

Changes in allowance for credit losses were as follows:  

 
 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Balance at beginning of period 13,406,118 11,345,797 
Charge‑offs (46,898,488) (26,059,774) 
Recoveries 6,909,063 3,874,018 
Provision for loan losses 50,284,082 24,246,077 
Balance at end of period 23,700,775 13,406,118 
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6.    Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses (continued) 

Provisions for loan losses and other liabilities is as follows:      
  

For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Provision for loan losses 50,284,082 24,246,077 
Other lending program costs 424,073 361,763 
Provision for CSO Guarantee liabilities (MoneyKey) 252,970 (430,030) 
Provision for Bank Service Program liabilities (MoneyKey)  4,059,973 579,082 
Total Provision for loan losses and other liabilities 55,021,098 24,756,892 

 
Breakdown of Provision for loan losses: 

 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Provision for loan losses on Installment loans and LOC advances 
(MoneyKey) 19,058,886 12,254,522 

Provision for loan losses on Bank Program Advances (CreditFresh) 31,225,196 11,991,555 
Total Provision for loan losses 50,284,082 24,246,077 

 

As of December 31, 2021, the outstanding amount of active installment loans originated by an unaffiliated third-party lender 
under the CSO programs was $4,260,648 (December 31, 2020 - $2,487,802), for which the risk of customer default is 
guaranteed by the Company. As of December 31, 2021, the outstanding amount of active line of credit advances originated 
by NBFI Bank Partner under the Bank Service Program (“Bank Service Program Advances”) was $17,782,252 (December 
31, 2020 - $3,316,385). These CSO loans and Bank Service Program Advances are not included in the tables above and 
are not included on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position.  

A breakdown of the Company’s gross loans and advances receivables and off-balance sheet arrangements is as follows: 
 

 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
CSO Program Products (MoneyKey)   

Revenue (Note 7) 11,482,156 15,435,239 
Loans and Advance receivables (On Balance Sheet) 1,888,392 1,404,351 
CSO Guarantee Liability (Note 14) 913,599 660,600 
CSO Obligation 2,535,085 3,325,996 
Installment loan borrower balances (Off Balance Sheet) 4,260,648 2,487,802 
Reserve balances (Reflected in Company's Restricted cash) 2,578,033 2,009,989 

   
   
Bank Service Program Advances (MoneyKey)   

Revenue (Note 7) 11,378,314 664,375 
Loans and Advance receivables (On Balance Sheet) 1,161,328 147,937 
Bank Service Program Guarantee Liability (Note 14) 4,639,049 579,082 
Line of credit borrower balances (Off Balance Sheet) 17,782,252 3,316,385 
Reserve balances (Reflected in Company's Restricted cash) 3,404,421 616,669 
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6.  Loans and advances receivable and allowance for credit losses (continued) 

 
As part of calculating the allowance for credit losses, the Company utilizes internally developed credit risk models considering 
the probability of default, loss given default, and exposure at default based on historical performance, as well as quantitative 
and qualitative adjustments for other relevant risk factors. The Company’s measurement of ECL is influenced by forward 
looking indicators (FLIs) which include the impact of macroeconomic forces on the business. With respect to macroeconomic 
forces, consideration is given to variables such as unemployment rate, inflation rate, and wage growth that have an influence 
on the business. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, further analysis is conducted on the possibility of a prolonged economic 
recession as well as the availability of government subsidies to our customer segment. As part of the process, 3 forward 
looking scenarios are developed 1) Optimistic; 2) Neutral; and 3) Pessimistic. The table below shows the impact of the FLIs 
under each scenario which is developed using internally developed models in consideration of each macroeconomic factor. 
Management judgment is then applied to determine probability weightings to each of these scenarios to determine a 
probability weighted allowance for credit losses as of the reporting date. 
   

 
 Optimistic Neutral Pessimistic 
    
Impact of macroeconomic factors +3.5% -0.5% -10.0% 
    

 
This assignment of probability weighting for the multiple scenarios using these FLIs involves, in addition to judgment, a 
robust internal modelling process, review, and analysis to arrive at a collective view on the likelihood of each scenario. If 
management were to assign a 100% probability to the Pessimistic scenario, the increase in the allowance for credit losses 
would be approximately $2,871,714. Conversely, if 100% probability were to be assigned to the Optimistic scenario, the 
decrease in the allowance would be approximately $1,005,100. Note, such sensitivity does not consider the proactive and 
reactive steps management would take to alter exposure and/or modify credit risk to mitigate any potential impact to credit 
losses.  
     

7.  Revenue 
 
Disaggregation of revenue:  
 

 
 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Fees from borrowers on purchased receivables (CreditFresh) 78,880,843 28,766,702 
Interest from borrowers in direct lending (MoneyKey) 19,140,259 21,096,398 
Fees from borrowers in direct lending (MoneyKey) 8,767,549 7,705,586 
Fees from CSO program (MoneyKey) 11,482,156 15,228,622 
Fees from Bank Service Program (MoneyKey) 11,378,314 664,441 
Total revenue 129,649,121 73,461,749 

 

8.  Prepaids 

Prepaid expenses consist of operating costs that are expensed over the periods they benefit.  

Prepaid costs are as follows:   

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Prepaids 1,486,572 450,959 
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9. Other receivables  

Other receivables are as follows:    

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Accounts Receivable 2,272,356 899,082 
Receivable from Payment Processor 905,262 330,098 
Receivable from Bank Partner 605,154 347,037 
Goods and Services Tax Receivable 582,036 141,142 
Other Receivables 6,808 73,786 
Total Other Receivables 4,371,616 1,791,145 

Accounts Receivable consists mainly of Bank Partner servicing fees receivable. None of these fees have been impaired 
during the year ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.   

10. Derivative financial instruments  

The nature of the Company's business activities expose it to foreign currency risk. The Company has entered into forward 
contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.  
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had entered into forward exchange contracts with a financial institution that matures 
between January 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 and obligates the Company to sell US$3,750,000 at prevailing forward market 
exchange rates. The contracts were entered into by the Company for the purpose of managing its foreign exchange exposure 
on Canadian expenditures. As at December 31, 2021, the fair value of the Company's open foreign exchange forward 
contracts was in an unrealized gain position of $40,173 (December 31, 2020 - $352,937 gain) based on the mark-to-market 
adjustment provided by the financial institution. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized a realized 
gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments for ($312,764) (2020: $280,453).
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11.     Property and equipment 

 
 Furniture and 

fixtures 
Computer 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements Total 
Cost     
Balance, December 31, 2020 469,286 732,949 500,539 1,702,774 

Additions 145,250 68,363 5,626 219,239 
Disposals  - (20,975) (115,395) (136,370) 

Balance, December 31, 2021 614,536 780,337 390,770 1,785,643 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
Balance, December 31, 2020 375,097 662,080 157,879 1,195,056 

Depreciation 40,988 62,708 8,008 111,704 
Eliminated on disposals  - (20,975) - (20,975) 

Balance, December 31, 2021 416,085 703,813 165,887 1,285,785 
     
Net Book Value     
Balance, December 31, 2020 94,189 70,869 342,660 507,718 
Balance, December 31, 2021 198,451 76,524 224,883 499,858 
     
     
 Furniture and 

fixtures 
Computer 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

Cost     
Balance, December 31, 2019 469,287 711,289 406,760 1,587,336 

Additions - 21,660 93,778 115,438 
Balance, December 31, 2020 469,287 732,949 500,538 1,702,774 
     
Accumulated depreciation     
Balance, December 31, 2019 311,821 572,371 149,423 1,033,615 

Depreciation 63,277 89,709 8,455 161,441 
Balance, December 31, 2020 375,098 662,080 157,878 1,195,056 
     
Net Book Value     
Balance, December 31, 2019 157,466 138,918 257,337 553,721 
Balance, December 31, 2020 94,189 70,869 342,660 507,718 

 

As at December 31, 2021, property and equipment with a cost of $340,803 (December 31, 2020 - $325,000) was not being 
amortized as it is work-in-progress.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
  



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
 

 

25 
 
 

 

12. Intangible assets 

 Customer 
acquisition 

data 

Internally 
developed 
software 

Total 

Cost    
Balance, December 31, 2020 4,171,583 8,314,145 12,485,728 

Additions 3,199,729 2,660,520 5,860,249 
Disposals and write-off   (2,065,768) - (2,065,768) 

Balance, December 31, 2021 5,305,544 10,974,665 16,280,209 
    
Accumulated amortization    
Balance, December 31, 2020 2,371,483 3,239,368 5,610,851 

Amortization 2,682,225 2,140,366 4,822,591 
Eliminated on disposals and write-off (2,065,768) - (2,065,768) 

Balance, December 31, 2021 2,987,940 5,379,734 8,367,674 
    
Net Book Value    
Balance, December 31, 2020 1,800,100 5,074,777 6,874,877 
Balance, December 31, 2021 2,317,604 5,594,931 7,912,535 
    
    
 Customer 

acquisition 
data 

Internally 
developed 
software 

Total 

Cost    
Balance, December 31, 2019 2,799,723 6,300,830 9,100,553 

Additions 2,644,843 2,013,315 4,658,158 
Disposals and write-off (1,272,983) - (1,272,983) 

Balance, December 31, 2020 4,171,583 8,314,145 12,485,728 
    
Accumulated amortization    
Balance, December 31, 2019 1,913,973 1,666,072 3,580,045 

Amortization 1,730,493 1,573,296 3,303,789 
Eliminated on disposals and write-off (1,272,983) - (1,272,983) 

Balance, December 31, 2020 2,371,483 3,239,368 5,610,851 
    
Net Book Value    
Balance, December 31, 2019 885,750 4,634,758 5,520,508 
Balance, December 31, 2020 1,800,100 5,074,777 6,874,877 

No impairment charges of intangible assets were recorded in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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13.    Right-of-use assets and lease obligations 

Right-of-use asset 

Under IFRS 16, the recognition of assets and present value of all lease obligations not settled within one year as liabilities 
are presented on the consolidated statements of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate of capital was determined to be 13% and was used as the discount rate for measuring the lease 
payments. The capitalized value of the assets on the transition date, as reflected in the consolidated statements of financial 
position is listed below: 

     
 ROU Asset 
Cost  
Balance, January 1, 2021 4,800,278 

Additions 159,299 
Balance, December 31, 2021 4,959,577 
  
Accumulated depreciation  
Balance, January 1, 2021 1,819,820 

Charge for the period 660,778 
Balance, December 31, 2021 2,480,598 
  
Net Book Value  
Balance, January 1, 2021 2,980,458 
Balance, December 31, 2021 2,478,979 
  
  
 ROU Asset 
Cost  
Balance, January 1, 2020 4,753,005 

Additions 47,273 
Balance, December 31, 2020 4,800,278 
  
Accumulated depreciation  
Balance, January 1, 2020 1,102,881 

Charge for the period 716,939 
Balance, December 31, 2020 1,819,820 
  
Net Book Value  
Balance, January 1, 2020 3,650,124 
Balance, December 31, 2020 2,980,458 

 

 

 

The Company’s lease assets include office spaces and office equipment, with the majority made up of office space. The 
weighted average lease term is 6 years (December 31, 2020 - 7 years).  
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13.   Right-of-use assets and lease obligations (continued) 

Lease liabilities 

Carrying amount of lease liabilities are as follows: 

       

 Lease Liability 
Cost  
Balance, January 1, 2021 3,536,260 

Additions 159,299 
Interest 440,043 
Payments (980,612) 
Foreign currency translation 28,747 

Balance, December 31, 2021 3,183,737 
  
Reported as:  
  
Current:  

Balance, January 1, 2021 515,912 
Balance, December 31, 2021 592,759 

Non-current:  
Balance, January 1, 2021 3,020,348 
Balance, December 31, 2021 2,590,978 

Carrying amount:  
Balance, January 1, 2021 3,536,260 
Balance, December 31, 2021 3,183,737 

  
  
 Lease Liability 
Cost  
Balance, January 1, 2020 3,945,143 

Additions 47,273 
Interest 468,428 
Payments (987,458) 
Foreign currency translation 62,874 

Balance, December 31, 2020 3,536,260 
  
Reported as:  
  
Current:  

Balance, January 1, 2020 524,297 
Balance, December 31, 2020 515,912 

Non-current:  
Balance, January 1, 2020 3,420,846 
Balance, December 31, 2020 3,020,348 

Carrying amount:  
Balance, January 1, 2020 3,945,143 
Balance, December 31, 2020 3,536,260 
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13.  Right-of-use assets and lease obligations (continued) 

The Company has entered into agreements to lease office premises until 2026. The annual rent expenses for premises consist 
of minimum rent and does not include variable costs. The minimum payments under all agreements are as follows: 
 

 
 As at December 31, 2021 
Year 1 592,759 
Year 2 660,478 
Year 3 666,863 
Year 4 651,196 
Year 5 612,441 
Total  3,183,737 

 
  

14.   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Accounts Payable 2,725,548 2,737,421 
   
Accrued Liabilities   
   Other Accrued Liabilities 8,883,456 4,187,001 
   CSO Obligations 2,535,085 3,325,996 
   CSO Guarantee liabilities 913,599 660,600 
   Bank Service Program Liabilities 4,639,049 579,082 
Total Accrued Liabilities 16,971,189 8,752,679 

 

 
CSO Obligations are comprised of: a) principal and interest to which unaffiliated third-party lenders are entitled but which 
was collected by the Company on such third-party lender’s behalf, b) unearned CSO fees advanced to the Company by 
unaffiliated third-party lenders on the consumer’s behalf.  
 
CSO Guarantee liabilities are expected net losses on all originated CSO loans on which the Company is obligated to 
guarantee principal and interest (net of expected collections and recoveries on guaranteed loans transferred to the 
Company), which represents the estimated fair value of the guarantees at that date. The fair value of the CSO Guarantee 
liabilities are classified as Level 3 under IFRS 7.  The allowance is included in accrued liabilities as the Company does not 
take title to the CSO loans and they are not included in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Bank Service Program Liabilities are comprised of expected net losses on all outstanding Bank Service Program Advances 
which the Company shall purchase upon default (non-performing), which represents the estimated fair value of the liabilities 
at that date. The fair value of the Bank Service Program liabilities are classified as Level 3 under IFRS 7.  The allowance is 
included in accrued liabilities as the Company does not take title to the Bank Service Program Advances and they are not 
included in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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15.   Credit facilities  

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
MoneyKey Facility   
Opening Balance 4,400,000 11,900,000 
Advances from credit facility 4,600,000 2,900,000 
Payments on credit facility (4,350,000) (10,400,000) 
Ending Balance 4,650,000 4,400,000 

   
CreditFresh Facility   
Opening Balance 33,700,000 7,900,000 
Advances from credit facility 32,520,000 29,400,000 
Payments on credit facility (24,000,000) (3,600,000) 
Ending Balance 42,220,000 33,700,000 

 46,870,000 38,100,000 

 

 
 MoneyKey  

Facility 
CreditFresh  

Facility Total 
Current:    
Balance, December 31, 2021 4,650,000 - 4,650,000 
Balance, December 31, 2020 4,400,000 - 4,400,000 
    
Non-current:    
Balance, December 31, 2021 - 42,220,000 42,220,000 
Balance, December 31, 2020 - 33,700,000 33,700,000 
    

 

 

MoneyKey Facility 
 
In 2019, the Company amended its existing credit facility (the “MoneyKey Facility”) which provided a borrowing limit of 
$20,000,000 to be used to fund the Company’s MoneyKey brand products. On August 24, 2021, the MoneyKey Facility was 
amended to extend the maturity from November 15, 2021 to May 15, 2022. The facility continues to bear interest at 10% 
plus the bank's three-month LIBOR rate per annum. The amount drawn on the facility as of December 31, 2021 was 
$4,650,000 (December 31, 2020  $4,400,000). The MoneyKey facility is secured by a general security agreement over all of 
the assets of the Company, and has a requirement for the Company to maintain an errors and omissions insurance policy 
of $2,000,000 (2020  $2,000,000).  
 
As at December 31, 2021, the maximum borrowing base under the MoneyKey Facility was approximately $11,046,205 
(December 31, 2020  $9,432,660). 
 
Under the terms of the credit facility agreement, the Company is subject to certain financial and non-financial covenants. As 
of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. 
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15.  Credit facilities (continued) 

CreditFresh Facility 
 
On March 24, 2021, the DSTs jointly entered into a new unitranche credit facility (the “CreditFresh Facility”) which provides 
the DSTs with a combined borrowing limit of $120,000,000 (increased from $45,000,000) used to purchase Bank Program 
Advances . The CreditFresh Facility matures on March 23, 2024. The amount drawn on the CreditFresh Facility as of 
December 31, 2021 was $42,220,000 (December 31, 2020 - $33,700,000). The CreditFresh Facility is secured by a pledge 
of the beneficial interest certificates in the DSTs to the agent for the unaffiliated third-party lenders. The CreditFresh Facility 
replaced the previous CreditFresh facility upon close of this new facility. The CreditFresh Facility has a requirement for the 
Company to maintain an errors and omissions insurance policy of $2,000,000 (2020  $2,000,000).  
 
As of December 31, 2021, the maximum borrowing base under the CreditFresh Facility was approximately $91,758,685 
(December 31, 2020 - $36,494,014). 
 
Under the terms of the CreditFresh Facility, the DSTs are subject to certain financial and non-financial covenants. As of 
December 31, 2021, the DSTs were in compliance with these covenants. 

Under these credit facilities, for the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company incurred interest expenses of $4,039,520 
(December 31, 2020 - $1,957,523) and other fees related to the credit facilities of $391,551 (December 31, 2020 - $359,313) 
and is recorded as “interest and fees on credit facilities” on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income. 

Term Loan 

The Term loans under the credit agreement entered into on November 9, 2018 and ranked subordinated to the MoneyKey 
Facility and CreditFresh Facility were paid off in Q2 2021. 

 

16.   Share capital 

In anticipation of its initial public offering (“Offering”), the Company filed articles of amendment on October 15, 2021 and on 
October 19, 2021 to effect a number of pre-Offering re-organization steps.  Such steps included, but were not limited to, (i) 
creating a new class of Class A Common Shares (“Class A Common Shares”) to facilitate a tax efficient inter-corporate 
deemed dividend by the Company to its two founding shareholders, MPI Capital Inc. and Kinross Family Holdings Inc.; by 
way of US$6,000,000 increase to the stated capital of the Class A Common Shares (ii) implementing a subdivision of the 
share capital of the Company on an equal basis whereby all issued and outstanding shares were split on a 2:1 basis; (iii) 
immediately following (ii) all issued and outstanding shares of the Company (which for clarity consisted of (1) 12,800,000 
Class A Common Shares; (2) 11,534,502 Common Shares; and (3) 2,803,118 Preferred Shares)  were exchanged on a 1:1 
basis into Toronto Stock Exchange listed common shares (“Pubco Common Shares”).  After giving effect to all such re-
organization steps, the share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Pubco Common Shares and an 
unlimited number of blank cheque preferred shares, issuable in series (“Pubco Preferred Shares”). 
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16.   Share capital (continued) 

Ordinary shares Authorized 

Unlimited number of Common Shares as at December 31, 2021. 

Unlimited blank cheque preferred shares as at December 31, 2021. 

Issued 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had - 34,325,120 Common Shares issued and outstanding (December 31, 2020 – 
23,741,866). 

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 # of shares $ # of shares $ 
Common shares     
Balance, opening 23,741,866 4,881,037 23,486,506 4,743,332 
Common shares issued 9,990,618 77,724,262 - - 
Transaction costs  (4,052,869)  - 
Share options exercised 592,636 398,632 255,360 137,705 
Balance, closing 34,325,120 78,951,062 23,741,866 4,881,037 

    

On October 20, 2021, the Company closed the Offering of 6,250,000 common shares at a price of C $9.75 per share for 
gross proceeds of C $60,937,500.  The Pubco Common Shares are listed and began trading on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange on October 20, 2021 under the symbol “PRL”.  The Offering was completed pursuant to the Company’s final 
prospectus dated October 13, 2021 and filed with the securities regulators in each of the provinces and territories of Canada. 
The Offering was made through a syndicate of underwriters (the “Underwriters”) led by Canaccord Genuity and Scotiabank, 
as joint bookrunners, and Raymond James, TD Securities, INFOR Financial, Roth Canada and Stifel Nicolaus Canada. 
 
On October 26, 2021, the Underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full and the Company received aggregate 
gross proceeds of $9,140,625 for the sale of an additional 937,500 common shares pursuant to the over-allotment. 
 
In accordance with IAS 33 – Earnings per share, basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing 
the net income attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares issued 
during the period after giving effect, on a retrospective basis, to share capital changes due to a share split that occurred as 
part of the initial public offering. 

 

17.   Stock-based compensation 

The Company has an employee stock option plan. The purpose of the plan is to advance the interests of the Company by 
encouraging key employees to acquire shares in the Company and thereby remain associated with, and seek to maximize 
the value of, the Company. The general terms of award under the plan provide that options in the common shares of the 
Company are granted to employees, officers, directors and consultants for their services. Options are generally granted at 
exercise prices equal to the fair market value at the grant date, vest over a 4 year period and expire after a maximum of 10 
years. Under the terms of the stock option plan, the number of shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of all 
options may not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares on a diluted basis at any time. As described in 
Note 16, on October 20, 2021, all issued and outstanding shares were split on a 2:1 basis. December 31, 2020 stock option 
amounts in the following table reflect that split. 
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17. Stock-based compensation (continued) 

Options issued and outstanding are as follows: 

 
 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

 Number of 
share options 

Weighted average 
exercise price  

Number of 
share options 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

     
Outstanding at beginning of year 490,598 0.70 610,958 0.58 
Granted during the year 1,106,832 5.28 135,000 0.75 
Surrendered during the year (81,794) 2.12 - - 
Exercised during the year (592,636) 1.22 (255,360) - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 923,000 5.73 490,598 0.70 
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - - 

 
 
The Company used the fair value method of accounting for stock options granted to employees. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an expense of $504,190 (2020: $23,879) in stock-based compensation expense 
related to its stock option plan in Salaries, benefits and wages, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus.   
 
As part of the IPO transaction, the Company accelerated 302,902 options to be exercised by surrendering the number of options 
equal to the exercise price. As a result of this transaction, the Company recognized an expense of $84,543 in stock-based 
compensation expense, a decrease in contributed surplus of $64,774 and an increase to Share Capital of $149,317. 
 
The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted during the period was approximately $2,144,758 (2020 - 
$39,758). The inputs into the Black Scholes model are as follows: 

 
 

 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Weighted average share price $10.70 $1.50 
Weighted average exercise price $10.70 $1.50 
Expected volatility 69.36% 69.53% 
Expected life (years) 2.22 4 
Risk-free rate 1.15% 1.29% 
Expected dividend yields 3.90% 0.00% 

 
 

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of comparable companies’ share price over the previous 
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 
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18. Income taxes 

The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of 26.5% (2020 — 26.5%) to the 
effective tax rate is as follows: 

 
 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Net Income before recovery of income taxes 9,672,522 10,421,781 
   

Expected income tax expense 2,563,220 2,761,772 
Transaction Costs (426,190) - 
Tax rate changes and other adjustments (131,340) 83,748 
Non-deductible expenses 222,730 (71,935) 
Share issuance cost booked directly to equity (1,074,010) - 
State & withholding tax 347,430 315,815 

Income tax 1,501,840 3,089,400 
   
The Company's income tax is allocated as follows:   
Current tax expense 4,742,780 3,871,102 
Deferred tax recovery (3,240,950) (781,711) 
 1,501,830 3,089,391 
   

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities   
 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Property, plant and equipment 15,860 17,841 
Share issuance costs 1,200,160 - 
Capital lease obligation 843,690 937,109 
Reserves 4,701,370 2,959,916 
Operating tax losses carried forward 632,190 236,342 
Right of use assets (656,930) (789,821) 
Intangible assets (1,478,820) (1,344,816) 

Net deferred tax asset (liability) 5,257,520 2,016,571 
 
 
Recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as follows: 

 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Deferred tax asset  5,333,560 3,196,258 
Deferred tax liability (76,040) (1,179,687) 
Deferred tax assets (net) 5,257,520 2,016,571 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company has the legal right and intent to offset. 

 
Movement in net deferred tax asset:   

 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,016,571 1,234,860 
Recognized in profit/loss 3,240,950 781,711 
Balance at the end of the year 5,257,520 2,016,571 
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19. Segment information 

The Company operates and manages its business in one industry segment – providing lending related services to borrowers, 
banks, and other institutions in the US. The Company does not present segmented information as it has determined that its 
operations fall under this one segment and operates primarily in one geographic region. The chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The CODM makes decisions and assesses performance 
of the Company at the consolidated level.  

Revenue for the period ended December 31, 2021 was earned fully in the US. All property and equipment, and leased assets 
are domiciled in Canada.  

20. Financial instruments and risk management 

As part of normal operations, the Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk, foreign currency risk and industry risk. The Company manages these through an integrated risk management 
framework, including ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring of risks potentially arising in financial and 
economic markets.  

Credit risk and concentration of credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company's cash, restricted cash, loans and advances receivable, 
other receivables and CSO and Bank Service Program liabilities. The maximum amount of credit risk exposure is limited to 
the carrying amounts of these balances.  Cash is maintained with Canadian and US financial institutions. Deposits held with 
banks may exceed the amount of federal insurance provided on such deposits. Unless otherwise disclosed, these deposits 
may be redeemed upon demand and are maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and therefore bear minimal 
credit risk. In relation to loans and advances receivable and CSO and Bank Service Program liabilities, the Company closely 
monitors default rates and overall recovery per dollar funded for all credit products originated through the Company’s 
proprietary technology platform. The Company, its non-bank, and/or Bank Partners adjust lending terms and policies as 
deemed necessary. The Company establishes an allowance for credit losses on all loans or advances originated through its 
proprietary technology platform in accordance with IFRS 9.  The gross exposure to the Company for CSO and Bank Service 
Program amounts are disclosed in note 6 above.  Under the CSO programs, as at December 31, 2021 the amount was 
$4,260,648 (December 31, 2020 - $2,487,802) and under the Bank Service Program the amount $17,782,252 (December 
31, 2020 - $3,316,385).  The associated maximum amount of credit risk exposure on such amounts are reflected in the CSO 
and bank service program liabilities as outlined above.   
 
The Company has a concentration of credit risk because substantially all of its loans and advances receivable balance is 
comprised of unsecured small dollar, high interest/financing fee advances and loans to US customers with similar credit 
characteristics.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest 
rates. Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and 
liabilities, known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. 
 
The Company is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk on its credit facilities as it bears interest at a rate plus a base rate of 
three-month LIBOR (with a floor of 1%). If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables were held 
constant, the Company’s interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 would not be impacted (December 31, 
2020: $35,125). If interest rates had been 50 basis points lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s 
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 would not be material (2020: $31,692). The Company will not always 
incur the full impact of an interest rate increase or decrease due to the 1% floor in the three-month LIBOR base rate.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities or 
will not have sufficient funds to issue loans and/or advances to its customers. The Company is exposed to liquidity risk 
depending on the timing of payments, default rates and the availability of third-party financing.  The Company manages its 
liquidity risk by closely monitoring its available cash on hand, available financing and expected collection rates and timing to 
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet its financial obligations as they come due and provide loans and advances to customers 
when requested. 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

The Company is obligated to the following contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows:  
 
 

As at December 31, 2021 Carrying amount Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Onwards 
      
Accounts Payable 2,725,548 (2,725,548) - - - 
Accrued Liabilities 16,971,189 (16,971,189) - - - 
Credit facilities 46,870,000 (4,650,000) - (42,220,000) - 
Total 66,566,737 (24,346,737) - (42,220,000) - 

 
 

As at December 31, 2020 Carrying amount Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Onwards 
      
Accounts Payable 2,737,421 (2,737,421) - - - 
Accrued Liabilities 8,752,679 (8,752,679) - - - 
Credit facilities 38,100,000 (4,400,000) - - (33,700,000) 
Term loan 11,195,703 (11,195,703) - - - 
Total 60,785,803 (27,085,803) - - (33,700,000) 

 
 
The Company is obligated to purchase Bank Program advances that are offered for sale to the Company by both Bank 
Partners. The amount of Bank Program advances that were funded by the Bank Partners but not yet offered for sale to the 
Company as at December 31, 2021 was $2,449,154 (December 31, 2020 – $1,332,558). Management has determined no 
provisions are required on these amounts as of the statement of financial position date, but regularly assesses these amounts 
and considers whether provisions may be required in advance of an offer to sell. 
 
The Company is obligated to guarantee the principal and interest (net of expected collections and recoveries on guaranteed 
loans transferred to the Company) of CSO in the event that the customer defaults on their loan payments. Management has 
provided for this allowance and is included in accrued liabilities. Refer to note 14 for further details.  
 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company enters into transactions denominated in Canadian dollar ("CAD") for which 
the related expenses, accounts payable and term loan balances are subject to exchange rate fluctuations. As at December 
31, 2021 management had entered into foreign currency forward contracts with a notional value of $3,750,000 to manage 
the risk from fluctuations in foreign currency risk over time (2020: $8,400,000). As at December 31, 2021 and 2020 the 
following items are denominated in CAD:  

 
 As at 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
   
Cash 3,586,764 174,988 
Accounts Payable 1,272,244 359,117 
Accrued Liabilities 1,256,955 954,371 
Term loans - 3,317,703 

 

As at December 31, 2021, if a shift in foreign currency exchange rates of 10% were to occur, the foreign exchange gain or 
loss on the Company’s net monetary assets could change by approximately $555,997 (December 31, 2020 - $436,925) due 
to the fluctuation, and this would be recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

Industry risk 

The consumer lending industry within which the Company operates is subject to a number of laws and regulations at both 
the US state and federal levels. Changes to these laws and regulations as well as differences in interpretation when applying 
them to the Company’s business pose a risk to the Company as the impact of these changes could have a material adverse 
impact on the Company’s asset values and overall financial results. The Company manages this risk by, among other things: 
having a robust and experienced in-house legal and regulatory compliance department (comprised of lawyers, auditors and 
other compliance professionals) dedicated to the interpretation, application, monitoring and advisory activities related to 
applicable laws and regulations; undertaking robust internal analyses and developing in-house processes and systems to 
manage legal and compliance risk; having business controls in place to manage legal and compliance risk; employing 
internal and external legal counsel to assist in interpreting and applying new and existing laws and regulations, being an 
active participant in an industry trade organization and in identifying and monitoring upcoming changes; and by undergoing 
internal and external audits to ensure ongoing compliance with applicable requirements. 
 
Fair value measurement 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value was measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements were 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that was significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:  
 

• Level 1 - valuation based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
• Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(i.e., unobservable inputs). 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Cash Derivative financial instruments Loans and advances receivables 
Restricted cash  Other receivables 
  Accounts payable 
  Accrued liabilities 
  Credit facilities 
   
   

The fair value of financial instruments classified at amortized cost approximates their fair values due to the short term to 
maturity and/or market interest rates.  The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined using level 2 inputs 
and is carried at fair value.  The fair value of the CSO Guarantee Liabilities and Bank Service Program Liabilities are 
determined using level 3 inputs. 

 
Financial instruments measured at fair value using level 3 inputs: 
 

 Valuation technique Significant 
unobservable 
inputs 

Inter-relationships between 
significant unobservable 
inputs and FV 

CSO 
Guarantee 
Liabilities 

Allowance for losses 
on the guarantee of 
managed receivables. 
 

- Borrower Default 
rates 
 
 
- Recovery rates 
 
 
- Macroeconomic  
variables 

- Increases can increase the 
expected credit loss estimates 
and these liabilities 
 
- Decreases can increase 
expected credit loss estimates 
and these liabilities 
- See note 6 above 
 

Bank Service 
Program 
Liabilities 

Allowance for losses 
on the obligation of 
managed receivables. 

 
 



Propel Holdings Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (expressed in US dollars) 
 

 

37 
 
 

21.  Related party transactions 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling activities of the entity, directly or indirectly including all Executives and Directors.  

In anticipation of its initial public offering (“Offering”), the Company filed articles of amendment on October 15, 2021 and 
on October 19, 2021 to effect a number of pre-Offering re-organization steps.  Such steps included, but were not limited 
to, (i) creating a new class of Class A Common Shares (“Class A Common Shares”) to facilitate a tax efficient inter-
corporate deemed dividend by the Company to its two founding shareholders, MPI Capital Inc. and Kinross Family 
Holdings Inc.; by way of US$6,000,000 increase to the stated capital of the Class A Common Shares  

Compensation expense for the Company’s key management personnel is as follows: 

 For the year ended 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Salaries 4,888,137 4,872,222 
Stock-based compensation 504,190 23,879 
Total 5,392,327 4,896,101 

 

 
22. Comparative financial information 

 
Certain of the prior year’s comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in the 
current year, as follows: 
 

 As previously 
reported as at 

December 31, 2020 
Reclassification 

As currently reported as 
at December 31, 2020 

Loans and advances receivable 51,577,558 (1,800,100) 49,777,458 
Intangible assets   5,074,777          1,800,100   6,874,877 

 

23. Subsequent events 

On February 3, 2022, the Company announced that its board of directors declared a dividend of C$0.095 per Common 
Share, payable on March 10, 2022 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on February 17, 2022. The 
Company has designated this dividend as an eligible dividend within the meaning of the Income Tax Act (Canada). 
 


